Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Court Administrator and Clerk

Electronically FILED on 8/18/2017 by Francisco Coello, Deputy Clerk

CASE #: S243855

Case No.:	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ASSOCIATION FOR LOS ANGELES DEPUTY SHERIFFS,

Petitioner,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, et al.,

Real Parties in Interest.

On Review From the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District, Division 8 Civil No.: B280676

After an Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County
Judge James C. Chalfant
Case Number BS166063

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Real Parties in Interest Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, Sheriff Jim McDonnell and County of Los Angeles (hereinafter collectively referred to as "the Department"), respectfully request that the Court grant review in this matter to settle the following important questions of law that have arisen following this Court's decision in *People v. Superior Court* ("Johnson") (2015) 61 Cal.4th 696:

1. Does a law enforcement agency violate California Penal Code sections 832.7 and 832.8 and Evidence Code sections 1043 through 1045 (collectively the "*Pitchess* statutes") when, in an effort to comply with *Brady v. Maryland* (1963) 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 ("*Brady*"), *Giglio v. United States* (1972) 405 U.S. 150, 92 S.Ct. 763, 766, 31 L.Ed.2d 104.) ("*Giglio*") and their progeny, it discloses to a prosecutor the identities (i.e., names and employee identification numbers only) of peace officers who the agency reasonably believes have exculpatory or impeachment information in their personnel file(s) or background in the absence of a granted "*Pitchess*" motion under Evidence Code section 1043? Stated another way, did the "*Brady* list" procedure used between the law enforcement agency and prosecutor's office in *Johnson*, which this Court

described as "laudabl[e]" (*Johnson*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th 721-22), or the disclosure procedure authorized by the trial court in this case (i.e., disclosures of names to prosecutors ruled permissible provided there is a "pending" criminal case), violate the *Pitchess* statutes?

2. If either type of disclosure *does* violate the *Pitchess* statutes, is a law enforcement agency nevertheless required or permitted to disclose the identity of peace officers with exculpatory or impeachment information in their personnel backgrounds pursuant to its constitutional obligations under *Brady*, *Giglio* and their progeny? Stated another way, if the *Pitchess* statutes, as enacted, prohibit a law enforcement department from sharing with prosecutors the identities of peace officers who have "*Brady* material" in their personnel files or backgrounds, do constitutional obligations pursuant to *Brady*, *Giglio* and their progeny take precedence over statutorily created privacy rights?

II. <u>NECESSITY FOR REVIEW</u>

The incorrect and far-reaching nature of the split Opinion published by the Court of Appeal, which significantly alters how numerous law enforcement agencies and district attorney's offices throughout the State operate, both presently and prospectively, makes this Court's attention to the decision urgent.

The *ALADS* Opinion is the first and only published decision to hold that the *Pitchess* statutes preclude a law enforcement agency from disclosing *to prosecutors* (only) the mere identities of peace officers whose personnel files may contain exculpatory or impeachment information despite the prosecution team's constitutional obligations under *Brady*, *Giglio* and their progeny. The *ALADS* Opinion represents a "sea change" and significant departure from the status quo and has resulted in significant

uncertainty with respect to how law enforcement agencies and prosecutors may go about satisfying their constitutional obligations under *Brady* and *Giglio* to disclose exculpatory and impeachment information to criminal defendants. The Court need look no further than its decision in *Johnson* and the expected amicus support for this Petition to understand the immediate and unworkable impact of the *ALADS* Opinion.

On the one hand, this Court in *Johnson* explained that, where a law enforcement department, acting pursuant to its internal procedures, informs the district attorney's office that the personnel files of peace officers may contain exculpatory information, the prosecution satisfies its *Brady* obligations by sharing with the defense information it has obtained from the police department (i.e., that the prosecutor has learned from the employing department that an officer's personnel records might contain "*Brady* material"). As the Court explained, when armed with this information along with an explanation of how the officer's credibility might be relevant to the proceeding, the defendant would be able to satisfy the showing necessary under the *Pitchess* procedures to trigger an *in camera* review of the officer's personnel records. (*Johnson*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at 721-22.)

On the other hand, the *ALADS* majority Opinion held, for the first time, that the *Pitchess* statutes *prohibit* a police department from even informing the prosecution that an officer involved in a pending criminal case has potential *Brady* material in his or her personnel file absent a granted *Pitchess* motion. (*ALADS* Opinion, pp. 26-27, 48.) In other words, the *ALADS* Opinion undermines the entire factual underpinnings of *Johnson* because, according to the *ALADS* Opinion, the police department in *Johnson* should not have told the prosecutor that an officer's personnel records contained possible exculpatory information, and the prosecution, in

turn, should not have had any information to share with the defense regarding the existence of possible exculpatory information.

However, as both the dissent in the *ALADS* Opinion and the California Attorney General recognized, law enforcement agencies have been identifying police officers with *Brady* material in their personnel files to prosecutors *for years*. This includes the San Francisco Police Department which, as observed in *Johnson*, has engaged in the process since at least 2010. (See *Johnson, supra*, 61 Cal.4th at 707, 725; Attorney General Opinion No. 12-401, dated October 13, 2015, 98 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 54 (2015), 2015 WL 7621362, at *7.) Following this Court's decision in *Johnson* and the Attorney General's opinion, the Department had sought to implement a formal procedure similar to that utilized by the San Francisco Police Department in *Johnson* for identifying employees with potential *Brady* material in their personnel files and for eventually disclosing the names and employee numbers (only) of those employees to the local district attorney's office.

Given that the legality of the Department's proposed practice—a practice that is already being utilized by law enforcement and prosecutorial agencies elsewhere in the State—is now in doubt as a result of the *ALADS* Opinion, this Court should grant review to make clear that: (1) a law enforcement agency may disclose to prosecutors the identities of peace officers who are reasonably believed to have exculpatory or impeachment evidence in their personnel files without violating the *Pitchess* statutes; and/or (2) even if a law enforcement agency's disclosure of such information to prosecutors constitutes a technical violation of the *Pitchess* statutes, the agency's constitutional *Brady* obligations must be given priority over those statutes to permit the limited disclosure to prosecutors of

the names of officers believed to have exculpatory or impeachment evidence in their personnel files which will allow the *Brady* and *Pitchess* processes to work together as intended.

III. <u>PETITION FOR REHEARING (CAL. R. CT. 8.504(B)(3))</u>
Real Parties in Interest opted not to file a petition for rehearing.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In an effort to best assure compliance with the Department's constitutional due process obligations to criminal defendants under *Brady*, and in light of this Court's decision in *Johnson* and the subsequently issued opinion from the California Attorney General's office, Opinion No. 12-401 (October 13, 2015) 98 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 54 ("AG Opinion"), the Department began to implement a procedure for identifying employees with potential "*Brady* material" in their personnel files and for eventually disclosing the names and employee numbers (only) of those employees to the local District Attorney's Office ("DA's Office"). Specifically, the Department convened a Commanders' Panel to evaluate individual employees' personnel records to identify those files that may contain potential exculpatory or impeachment information that could adversely impact a deputy's ability to testify at trial. (Petitioner's (ALADS') Supporting Documents and Index, filed in connection with the underlying Court of Appeal Writ Petition ("PI") 0154-0155, at ¶¶ 3-4.)

The Department identified certain Department Manual of Policy and Procedures ("MPP") sections that likely trigger the Department's *Brady* obligations, and the Commanders' Panel also examined founded administrative investigations and disciplinary actions to ascertain which Department personnel may have *Brady* material in their files that must be

disclosed to prosecutorial agencies. (PI 0154-0155, at \P 4.) The MPP provisions the Department identified as possibly triggering Brady obligations included:

- 3-01/030.07 Immoral Conduct
- 3-01/030.75 Bribes, Rewards, Loans, Gifts, Favors
- 3-01/040.40 Misappropriation of Property
- 3-01/040.65 Tampering with Evidence
- 3-01/040.70 False Statements
- 3-01/040.75 Failure to Make Statements and/or Making
 False Statements During Departmental Internal Investigations
- 3-01/040.76 Obstructing an Investigation/Influencing a
 Witness
- 3-01/100.35 False Information in Records
- 3-01/121.20 Policy of Equality Discriminatory Harassment
- 3-10/030.10 Unreasonable Force
- 3-01/030.16 Family Violence

Although now prevented from doing so pursuant to the ALADS Opinion, the Department simply intended to provide prosecutorial agencies with a list of the names (and employee identification numbers) of employees with potential Brady material in their personnel files (i.e., a "Brady list"). (PI 0155, ¶ 5.) To repeat, the Department's intention was only to provide the names of employees (and their employee numbers), and no portion of an investigation or the contents of any deputy's personnel files would be turned over to either the prosecution or the defense in any case absent a court order pursuant to a Pitchess or Brady motion. (Id.)

Although it was not required to do so (given that, as a member of the prosecution team, the Department has a constitutional due process

obligation to disclose potentially exonerating and/or impeaching information in criminal cases), on October 14, 2016, the Department sent a letter to approximately 300 individual affected Deputy Sheriffs notifying them that potential *Brady* material had been identified in their personnel files and that the Department intended to disclose their names and employee numbers only (i.e., no records) to the DA's Office in accordance with the law. (PI 0155, at ¶ 6; 0159-0162.) This notification triggered the instant lawsuit by ALADS, the union that represents many (but not all) Deputy Sheriffs employed by the Department.

B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On November 10, 2016, ALADS filed the instant action for injunctive relief in the Los Angeles County Superior Court. (PI 0001-0026.) Through its action, ALADS sought, in part, to preclude the Department from creating a *Brady* list at all, from disclosing its *Brady* list or the name of any individual on the list to anyone outside the Department, including prosecutors, absent complete compliance with the *Pitchess* statutes, and from imposing possible duty restrictions on employees who have been identified as having *Brady* material in their backgrounds.

After full briefing on ALADS' request for preliminary injunctive relief, on January 12, 2017, the trial court filed a thorough and lengthy written tentative ruling granting the preliminary injunction in part, and denying it in all other respects. (PI 0184-0195.)

While the trial court's tentative ruling indicated that the Department could not release the Department's entire internal *Brady* list to prosecutors, it held that the Department was not precluded from creating a *Brady* list and then releasing the names of employees to prosecutors on a case-by-case basis in a pending criminal case. The trial court explained:

In sum, the Department may prepare a <u>Brady</u> list for internal use, and **it may disclose pertinent** <u>Brady</u> **information when a deputy is involved in a criminal prosecution.** Obviously, the District Attorney may prepare a <u>Brady</u> list of its own. But the Department may not provide its <u>Brady</u> list to the District Attorney or other prosecuting agency. The Department may not give prosecutors the names of deputies in compliance with its <u>Brady</u> duty who may be subject to a <u>Pitchess</u> motion **until the need to do so arises**.

(PI 0193. Emphasis added.)

Elsewhere in the trial court's tentative, the trial court wrote:

These names cannot be disclosed to the District Attorney **absent a Brady obligation to do so.**Contrary to the Department's and Attorney General's view, there is no Brady obligation for the Department to provide a list to the District Attorney **before there is a need for this information in a particular criminal case**. The Department is a member of "the prosecution team" with its own Brady obligation, **but only when there is a prosecution.**

(PI 0192-0193.)

The trial court's tentative ultimately concluded that "[t]he motion is granted in that a preliminary injunction will issue preventing disclosure of a <u>Brady</u> list to the District Attorney or any other prosecuting agency. In other respects, the motion is denied." (PI 0195.) During oral argument, the trial court clarified its tentative ruling and ultimately adopted the tentative ruling as its final ruling.

On January 27, 2017, the trial court thereafter issued a preliminary injunction that prohibited general disclosure of the *Brady* list to prosecutors, but allowed disclosure of individual deputies from the list to prosecutors, without any need for a granted *Pitchess* motion, as long as any disclosed deputy was also a potential witness in a pending criminal prosecution:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that during the pendency of this action, the above-named Respondents, County of Los Angeles, Los Angeles County Sheriff's

Department, Jim McDonnell, in his capacity as Sheriff of Los Angeles County and Individually, and each of them, their officers, agents, employees and representatives ("Enjoined Parties"), are enjoined and restrained from engaging in, committing, or performing, directly or indirectly, by any means whatsoever, any of the following acts:

- (1) Releasing to the Los Angeles County District Attorney's Office, or any person, agency, or official outside the Sheriff's Department, the Sheriff's Department's "Brady List" prepared, maintained, and described by the Sheriff's Department in its October 14, 2016 letter;
- (2) Disclosing to the Los Angeles County District Attorney's Office, or any prosecutorial agency, the fact that any individual Deputy Sheriff's name or employee number appears on the aforementioned "Brady List," unless a criminal prosecution is pending and the Deputy Sheriff at issue is involved in that prosecution as a potential witness, in which case the Enjoined Parties may disclose to the prosecutorial agency that the Deputy Sheriff is listed on the Sheriff's Department's "Brady List" and/or may have "Brady material" in his or her personnel file.
- (3) Except as permitted under paragraph (2) above, releasing the name, employee number, or other identifying information of any individual Deputy Sheriff together with any confidential information from that Deputy Sheriff's personnel file, including but not limited to discipline history information, to the Los Angeles County District Attorney's Office, or any person, agency, or official outside the Sheriff's Department, other than pursuant to a Court Order issued in response to a properly filed and considered Pitchess Motion or Brady Motion.

For purposes of clarifying the Enjoined Parties' obligations under this injunction, the Enjoined Parties are not precluded from maintaining a "Brady List" internally nor are they enjoined from disclosing the fact that an individual Deputy Sheriff is listed on the Sheriff's Department's "Brady List" when a criminal prosecution is pending and the Deputy Sheriff at issue is involved in the pending prosecution as a potential witness.

The Enjoined Parties are further not precluded from taking actions (e.g., transferring a Deputy Sheriff, changing the assignment of a Deputy Sheriff, or imposing work requirements on a Deputy Sheriff such as recording citizen contacts) as a result of a Deputy Sheriff's being placed on the Sheriff's Department's "Brady List." In the event a particular Deputy Sheriff believes such an action constitutes "punitive action" within the meaning of the Public Safety Officers' Procedural Bill of Rights Act ("POBRA"), Government Code section 3300, et seq., he or she shall retain any right he or she may have under POBRA to challenge such an action.

Finally, Respondents are not enjoined from disclosing any future developed "Brady List" to the Los Angeles County District Attorney's Office, or any other prosecutorial agency, provided any new Brady List contains only the names of non-sworn employees who are not subject to the Public Safety Officers' Procedural Bill of Rights Act ("POBRA"), Government Code section 3300, et seq."

(PI 0237-0253, 0254-0258, 0301-0305.)

On February 14, 2017, ALADS filed the underlying Petition for Writ of Mandate ("Petition") asking the Second District Court of Appeal to direct the trial court to revoke or modify portions of its January 27, 2017, preliminary injunction.

On July 11, 2017, in a 2-1 decision, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Eight, granted ALADS' Petition, in part, ordering the trial court "to strike from the injunction any language that allows real parties or any of them to disclose the identity of any individual deputy on the LASD's *Brady* list to any individual or entity outside the LASD, even if the deputy is a witness in a pending criminal prosecution, absent a properly filed, heard, and granted *Pitchess* motion, accompanied by a corresponding court order." The trial court was further ordered to "strike any language that purports to address real parties' power or authority with respect to a *Brady* list involving non-sworn employees." The Court of Appeal denied the petition in all other respects. (*ALADS* Opinion, p. 48.)

In a strongly worded concurrence and dissent, Justice Grimes rejected the majority's "principal conclusion" that, when the personnel

records of a peace officer who is a potential witness in a pending criminal prosecution contain sustained allegations of misconduct, the Department cannot disclose that fact to the prosecutor "absent a properly filed, heard, and granted *Pitchess* motion, accompanied by a corresponding court order." (*ALADS* Opinion, Grimes Concurring and Dissenting Opinion, p. 1.

Footnote omitted.) Instead, based on case authorities, including *Johnson*, years of past practice, and "the unworkability of requiring a prosecutor to make a *Pitchess* motion merely to find out whether or not a deputy in a pending prosecution has potential *Brady* material in his personnel file,"

Justice Grimes concluded that "the trial court properly harmonized the *Brady* and *Pitchess* authorities in refusing to enjoin the Department from disclosing to the district attorney the identity of any deputy on the Department's *Brady* list who is a potential witness in a pending criminal prosecution." (*Id.* at pp. 1-2.) In closing, Justice Grimes observed the following:

The question presented to us is whether the *Pitchess* statutes preclude the disclosure of *Brady*-list names by the Department to the prosecutor in a pending prosecution. The courts have always viewed *Pitchess* "against the larger background" of the prosecution's constitutional *Brady* obligations. ([*People v. Mooc* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1216, 1225].) We would do no more here, by finding no *Pitchess* violation in a procedure that is consonant with *Brady* obligations and that does not involve a prosecutor's perusal of any information in an officer's personnel file. For these reasons, I would affirm this aspect of the trial court's preliminary injunction.

(ALADS Opinion, Grimes Concurring and Dissenting Opinion, p. 16.)

/// ///

///

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO SETTLE IMPORTANT QUESTIONS OF LAW CONCERNING THE DISCLOSURE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES UNDER BRADY AND GIGLIO

As evident from the conflict between this Court's decision in *Johnson*, the AG Opinion, and the split *ALADS* Opinion, review in this case is necessary to answer the important question of whether the *Pitchess* statutes, as enacted, prohibit a law enforcement department from sharing with prosecutors the identities (only) of peace officers whom the agency reasonably believes have exculpatory or impeachment information in their personnel file(s) or backgrounds in the absence of a granted "*Pitchess*" motion.

Review is also necessary in this case to answer the equally important question of whether, if such a disclosure *does* violate the *Pitchess* statutes, a law enforcement agency is nevertheless required or permitted to disclose the identity of peace officers with *Brady* information in their backgrounds to prosecutors pursuant to constitutional obligations enunciated in *Brady*, *Giglio* and their progeny.

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