Supreme Court Case No. S243855

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ASSOCIATION FOR LOS ANGELES DEPUTY SHERIFFS

Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, et al.,

Real Parties In Interest

On Review From the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District, Div. 8 2d Civ. No. B280676

After an Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Judge James C. Chalfant LA County Sup. Ct. Case No. BS166063

PETITIONER ASSOCIATION FOR LOS ANGELES DEPUTY SHERIFFS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Also overturned without analysis by the Attorney General's opinions is the line of cases consistently holding that the prosecution does not have access to confidential personnel records absent compliance with the Pitchess procedures. *Rezek v. Superior Court* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 633,

642; *Becerrada v. Superior Court* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 409, 415 [31 Cal. Rptr. 3d 735]; *People v. Gutierrez* (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 1463, 1475 [6 Cal. Rptr. 3d 138]; *Abatti v. Superior Court* (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 39, 56 [4 Cal. Rptr. 3d 767]; *People v. Superior Court* (*Gremminger*) (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 397, 404–407 [67 Cal. Rptr. 2d 910]. The release of a list of names of peace officers who are identified solely because of disciplinary information from their personnel files flies directly in the face of these decisions.

Contrary to the Sheriff's Department's assertions in its current Petition, the Court of Appeal's decision in this case did not impose a "sea change" in criminal procedure. As the case law discussed *supra* establishes, any "sea change" would result from this Court's adoption of the Sheriff's Department's position in this case.

Likewise, this Court did not intend to overturn the foregoing extensive jurisprudence regarding the Constitutional validity of the statutory scheme enacted to protect both the confidentiality rights of California peace officers and the due process rights of criminal defendants by its description of the SFPD procedures under Bureau Order 2010-01 as "laudable." Rather, the complete dismantling of a statutory scheme which has worked for decades, and which has been uniformly held to be Constitutional in face of attacks nearly identical to those offered by the Sheriff's Department here, would be the result of the adoption of the Sheriff's Department's position in this case.

D. THE SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT'S SUGGESTED "LIMITED EXCEPTION" TO THE STATUTORY PROCEDURE IS UNTENABLE.

San Francisco's Bureau Order 2010-01, as illustrated by the Sheriff's Department's arguments urging this Court to judicially create a "limited" exception to the requirements of the *Pitchess* statutes, goes too far in its efforts to cut down on manpower and overhead costs at the expense of peace officer confidentiality rights. Contrary to the Sheriff's Department's arguments, the confidentiality rights of peace officers state-wide which are at issue in this case are not solely the product of the *Pitchess* statutory

scheme. Rather, those confidentiality rights are recognized and protected by Article I, Section 1 of the California Constitution. See, *Copley Press, supra*, 39 Cal. 4th 1272, 1300-1301. The balancing of Federal Constitutional rights and State Constitutional rights is a more complex question than the over-simplification evidenced in the Department's arguments that the Constitution trumps statutory rights. (Petition, pp. 27-28.)

The Department's argument that a "limited" exception to the *Pitchess* procedure can be carved out to protect the due process rights of criminal defendants itself illustrates the fallacy of the argument. The Sheriff's Department relies heavily for support of its limited exception position on the decision in *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1, 10, which held that the 5 year limitation on discovery set forth in Evidence Code section 1045(b)(1) is inapplicable to Brady material sought in a *Pitchess* motion.

The 5 year discovery limitation at issue in *City of Los Angeles* is in fact a legislatively created, State law. The overall privacy rights of peace officers, which are directly and negatively impacted by the Sheriff's Department's proposed limited exception carve-out, are defined as inalienable rights by Article 1 Section 1 of the State Constitution. ("All people are by nature free and independent and have inalienable rights. Among these are enjoying and defending life and liberty, acquiring, possessing, and protecting property, and pursuing and obtaining safety, happiness, and privacy.")

The Sheriff's Department's proposed carve-out thus creates an exception which swallows the rule. The exception proposed is that any time any peace officer is disciplined and his or her supervisors decide that the discipline those supervisors have imposed implicates the truthfulness or veracity of the officer, the supervisors are then allowed to report the officer, by name, as someone lacking in truth and veracity due to the disciplinary event, to someone not entitled to know that information. The SFPD process, and similar procedures authorized by the Attorney General's

opinion, allow this release of information at any time and without request by the District Attorney.

The limitation imposed by the trial court in this case, and now urged by the Department to be adopted by this Court as binding on all public safety employers in the State, would require that the unsolicited release of disciplinary history information will only occur when a peace officer is a "potential" witness in a criminal prosecution. This proffered exception to the statutory process improperly substitutes the Sheriff's Department's or other public safety employer's determination of relevance and materiality for that of the trial court, which is statutorily charged with the responsibility for making that determination. See, Evidence Code §§ 1043, et seq.; Johnson, supra, 61 Cal. 4th 696, 722 ("The superior court was concerned that requiring it to review personnel records routinely for exculpatory material, including Brady material, would be too onerous. Personnel records can be quite voluminous. One answer to this concern is that the burden has long existed. First this court in Pitchess, supra, 11 Cal.3d 531, and then the Legislature in codifying Pitchess, placed the burden on the courts. It cannot be avoided.")

In addition, the exception which the Sheriff's Department seeks to have this Court judicially impose on the statute is improperly over-broad. Every deputy on the scene of an arrest is a "potential" witness in the subsequent prosecution of that arrestee. Not every deputy on scene, however, is a witness whose credibility would be relevant or material to the issues or defenses in the case. As accurately explained by the Court of Appeal in this case,

"Not all "potential" LASD witnesses in a criminal case, however, will be significant enough that impeachment information in their personnel files will be material, which Brady requires as a prerequisite to disclosure. For example, while the credibility of a homicide detective who obtains an unrecorded confession from a murder defendant would likely be a material issue at trial, that of a patrol deputy who simply arrests the defendant but otherwise generates no incriminating evidence likely would not be. In the latter situation, impeachment information in the deputy's personnel file likely would not be material under Brady and thus there

would be no disclosure obligation, even if we assume the validity of the trial courts constitutional rationale, that justifies ignoring the requirements of the Pitchess statutes. The injunction, though, permits violation of the Pitchess statutes in both situations described above, since it treats potential witnesses identically regardless of their materiality. The injunction is therefore overbroad even if we assume the validity of its own rationale." ALADS, supra, 13 Cal. App. 5th 413, 440.

The rule proposed by the Sheriff's Department in this case would, in reality, erase any confidentiality protection for peace officer disciplinary records. Under the Department's view of the rule, any time any peace officer makes an arrest, information from his or her disciplinary records, specifically the information that the disciplinary record renders the officer incapable of testifying credibly in the prosecution, would be immediately turned over to the prosecutor. This would occur once charges were filed, apparently before any preliminary hearing or arraignment was held, and well prior to any plea discussions by the parties to the criminal case.

Since the statutory motion procedures would not be applicable, so to would the statutory requirement that a protective order be entered, preventing the use of the information for any reason other than the prosecution in which the information is released, not apply. This allows everyone in the prosecutor's office unfettered access to the information at any time. Nothing, in fact, precludes the prosecutor from sharing the information with not just defense counsel but the press or the public at large. In fact, nothing in the Department's proposed rule would prevent the Department from unilaterally providing the information to the defense, the press, or the public. This, however, is exactly what the *Pitchess* statutes intended to prevent and nothing in *Brady* requires this result.

The Sheriff's Department, in urging what it defines as a simple carve-out exception to the statutory *Pitchess* process, in fact requires, as correctly identified by the Court of Appeal in this case, a declaration that the statute is unconstitutional, despite 40 years of jurisprudence to the contrary:

"The trial court's finding that, because of its "Brady obligation," the LASD "may" violate the Pitchess statutes' disclosure prohibition, is, in our opinion, identical to finding that the Pitchess statutes' disclosure prohibition is unconstitutional in the particular context of a filed prosecution wherein a Brady list deputy is a witness. There is simply no lawful way judicially to approve a violation of state law unless compelled to do so by a higher authority: in this case, the United States Constitution as construed in Brady." 13 Cal. App. 5th at p. 421.

As this Court noted in *Copley Press*, supra:

"In enacting and amending sections 832.5, 832.7, and 832.8, the Legislature, though presented with arguments similar to Copley's, made the policy decision "that the desirability of confidentiality in police personnel matters does outweigh the public interest in openness." (Hemet, supra, 37 Cal.App.4th at p. 1428, fn. 18.) Copley fails to explain why the considerations underlying the Legislature's policy decision apply differently, depending on whether a part of a disciplinary matter that the officer's employer must, by statute, provide is handled inside or outside the law enforcement department itself. In any event, it is for the Legislature to weigh the competing policy considerations. As one Court of Appeal has explained in rejecting a similar policy argument: "[O]ur decision ... cannot be based on such generalized public policy notions. As a judicial body, ... our role [is] to interpret the laws as they are written." (SDPOA. supra, 104 Cal. App. 4th at p. 287.) [Footnotes omitted.] 39 Cal. 4th at 1298-1299.

Here, the Sheriff's Department fails to explain why the Legislature's policy determination that the privacy of police disciplinary records should be protected and subject to release only pursuant to a motion addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, should now, after 40 years, be declared unconstitutional and eliminated. The administrative expedience and cost savings underlying SFPD's Bureau Order 2010-01 and the appeal to transparency articulated by the Sheriff's Department are insufficient to justify the judicial repeal of this statutory scheme which the Sheriff's Department herein seeks.

The Court of Appeal in this case issued a thoughtfully considered and well reasoned decision, which took into consideration, and followed, the four decades of jurisprudence related to the *Pitchess* statutory scheme, the *Brady* rule, and the inter-play between the two. Contrary to the Sheriff's Department's suggestion in its instant Petition, the Court of Appeal did not "invite" this Court's re-review of its decision in *Johnson*. Rather, the Appellate Court correctly applied the existing judicial interpretations finding the statutory scheme at issue to be constitutional, specifically in light of the rule established in Brady.

E. THE "SEA-CHANGE" IN CRIMINAL PROSECUTIONS WILL RESULT FROM ADOPTION OF THE SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT'S PROPOSED RULE, NOT THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION.

The Sheriff's Department also asserts that if this Court allows the Court of Appeal's decision to stand, the sea change in criminal jurisprudence which will result will overwhelm the entire system. The most fundamental error in this argument is that the Court of Appeal's decision in this case effects no change whatsoever to existing *Pitchess* and *Brady* jurisprudence. The Court of Appeal's decision faithfully considered, followed, and applied existing judicial determinations that the provisions of the *Pitchess* statutes and the *Brady* rule are both lawful and can peacefully co-exist. The Sheriff's Department's position is the one which will up-end that long recognized and efficient co-existence.

Contrary to the Department's assertions, as previously noted, the *Johnson* Court directly recognized that a criminal defendant is not assisted at all in making the showing necessary to obtain in camera review of police personnel and discipline records by being advised by the prosecutor that a supervisor of a peace officer witness thinks the officer lacks veracity. With or without this information, the defense must establish

"... materiality to the subject matter of the pending litigation and a reasonable belief that the agency has the type of information sought. A showing of good cause is measured by relatively relaxed standards that serve to insure the production for trial court review of all potentially relevant documents. The defense only needs to demonstrate a logical link between the defense proposed and the pending charge and describe with some specificity how the discovery being

sought would support such a defense or how it would impeach the officer's version of events. This specificity requirement excludes requests for officer information that are irrelevant to the pending charges. But if the defendant shows that the request is relevant to the pending charges, and explains how, the materiality requirement will be met." [Internal quotation makes and citations omitted.] 61 Cal.4th at 720-721.

The showing necessary to have a *Pitchess* motion granted, and in camera review held by the trial court is not now and never has been onerous. The addition of the fact that a supervisor thinks the witness officer is not credible does not establish any of the facts needed to present a logical link between the proposed defense and the pending charges. *Id*.

While undoubtedly it is easier for criminal defendants to submit *Pitchess* motions which simply state that a witness officer is on a *Brady* list, this information simply does not meet the standard of establishing the necessary logical link between a defense and the pending charges. Lowering the minimum threshold showing needed to obtain in camera review of discipline records from materiality and reasonable belief the agency has the type of information sought, to his supervisor thinks he's a liar, as is the essence of the Department's position, will ensure fishing expeditions and increase the frequency of filed *Pitchess* motions exponentially. This sea change in jurisprudence and practice is not supported by the long standing decisions of this Court and California Appellate Courts that *Brady* due process considerations do not render the *Pitchess* procedures unconstitutional. *Johnson, supra*; *City of Los Angeles, supra*; *People v. Gutierrez, supra*, 112 Cal.App.4th at p.1473.

CONCLUSION

Nothing presented by the Sheriff's Department in this case identifies an important question of law which has not previously been decided by this Court. See, e.g., *Johnson, supra*; *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1, 10, 12; *People v. Mooc* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1216, 1219–1220; *People v. Gutierrez* (2003) 112 Cal. App. 4th 1463, 1472;

///

People v. Memro (1985) 38 Cal.3d 658, 684. As such, the instant Petition for Review should be denied, in its entirety.